SEP 28 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

95039-3 NO. 49222-9-11 FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2017 SEP 26 AM 9: 52

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON'S DIVISION II

In re the Matter of the Estate of

DEBORAH E. REID,

Deceased.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE SUZAN CLARK

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEN SHAFTON Attorney for Appellant Brandon Saludares Caron, Colven, Robison & Shafton 900 Washington Street, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

## **

## **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

This Petition for Review is filed on behalf of Brandon Saludares, the Appellant.

## **COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS**

Mr. Saludares seeks review of decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter filed on August 8, 2017. Mr. Saludares filed a motion to publish a portion of the Court's decision on August 23, 2017. This motion was denied by order dated August 30, 2017. The appendix contains copies of the decision of the Court of Appeals and the Order Denying Motion to Publish.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The following issues are presented for review:

- 1. Is Mr. Saludares a statutory beneficiary under RCW 4.20.020 and therefore entitled to share in the proceeds of a wrongful death settlement obtained in regard to the death of his natural mother?
- 2. Did Mr. Saludares' adoption preclude him from being a statutory beneficiary of the wrongful death claim?
  - 3. Did Deborah Reid relinquish Mr. Saludares?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Deborah Reid gave birth to Brandon Saludares when she was seventeen years old. (CP 65-67, 71, 85) Diane Saludares—the mother of Deborah Reid—and Michael Saludares adopted Mr. Saludares when Deborah Reid and Mr. Saludares were nineteen and two years of age, respectively. (CP 55-56) Because of the intra-familial nature of the adoption, Mr. Saludares continued to enjoy a warm relationship with his natural mother. (CP 183-85) Ms. Reid subsequently gave birth to Laurenne Reid and Dillon Troxel-Reid. (CP 76) The two were subject of dependency proceedings beginning in 2006. Mr. Saludares was described as their brother in those proceedings. He attended court hearings and otherwise provided information to social workers. (CP 76-80, 90, 97)

Ms. Reid died in January of 2008 as a result of an overdose of opiates. Mr. Saludares sought and obtained custody of his sister after that occurred. (CP 110, 120-25, 169-78)

In 2010, Laurenne Reid successfully petitioned to become personal representative of her mother's estate for the sole purpose of pursuing a wrongful death claim against the persons who supplied the opiates that led

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The course of the adoption proceedings will be discussed in the section of this petition devoted to argument.

to her death. All three of her children, including Mr. Saludares, were named as children and heirs in the petition. (CP 1-5)

A wrongful death action was subsequently filed. When deposed, Laurenne Reid referred to Mr. Saludares as her brother. (CP 181) The matter was ultimately settled with court approval for \$850,000.00. The settlement itself contained no differentiation among and between beneficiaries or any component for loss of future wages or other monetary contributions Ms. Reid could have been expected to make to her children. (CP 10, 18, 25) The settlement was approved, and proceedings were commenced to determine distribution of the net proceeds. (CP 29-30)

Upon suitable motion, the trial court ruled that Mr. Saludares was not entitled to any part of the settlement because he was not a child of the decedent. (CP 34-45, 126-38, 187, 253-55) Mr. Saludares appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an opinion published in part. In the published portion, it held that Mr. Saludares was not a statutory beneficiary because the decree of adoption terminated his parent-child relationship with Ms. Reid. In the unpublished portion, it ruled that the parent-child relationship between Mr. Saludares and his natural mother had been terminated by her relinquishment of him in the adoption proceeding.

## **ARGUMENT**

## I. Introduction.

The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Saludares is not a statutory beneficiary under the wrongful death statute because his adoption ended the parent-child relationship between him and Deborah Reid. That decision conflicts with decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals as the analysis below will demonstrate. The Supreme Court should therefore grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)

II. As One of Ms. Reid's Children, Mr. Saludares Is a Statutory Beneficiary under the Wrongful Death Statute.

The wrongful death statute, RCW 4.20.020, identifies the beneficiaries of a wrongful death action to include the decedent's children. The term "child" is not defined in the statute. It must therefore be given its dictionary definition. *Grant County Prosecuting Attorney v. Jasman*, 183 Wn.2d 633, 643, 354 P.3d 846 (2015) The term "child" means, among other things, a son or daughter. Slip Opinion, p. 4. fn. 2. Mr. Saludares is a natural son of the decedent and therefore her child. Under well-accepted authority governing statutory interpretation, he qualifies as a beneficiary under RCW 4.20.020.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court has stated that a child for the purposes of RCW 4.20.020 is any natural or adopted child of the decedent. *Armijo v. Wesselius*, 73 Wn.2d 716, 719, 440 P.2d 471 (1968) Once again, Mr. Saludares qualifies as a beneficiary since he is natural child of the decedent. The decision of the Court of Appeals to the contrary conflicts with this decision of the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court should take review for that reason.

III. The Decree of Adoption Did Not Terminate the Parent-Child Relationship between Mr. Saludares and Ms. Reid.

The Court of Appeals ruled that Mr. Saludares' was not a statutory beneficiary of the wrongful death action because his adoption by his grandparents terminated the parent-child relationship between him and Deborah Reid. This ruling conflicts with well settled authority on interpretation of statutes. It also conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court to the effect that adoption does not end the parent-child relationship between the natural parent and the adoptee and does not by itself deprive the adoptee of the benefits of the relationship with the natural parent.

Being a statutory beneficiary of a wrongful death action is clearly one legal benefit of being a child of a person who dies through the fault of another. An adoptee remains entitled to claim a benefit based on being the child of the natural parent in the absence of a statute clearly depriving the adoptee of such a benefit. The Supreme Court has held that in the absence of a statute eliminating such a right, an adoptee is entitled to inherit from the natural parent. *Roderick's Estate*, 158 Wash. 377, 291 P. 325 (1930), In coming to this decision, it relied on the general rule that, in a legal sense, an adoptee is the child of both the natural parents and the adoptive parents. 158 Wash. at 381 The Supreme Court has also held that a child's adoption by others after the deaths of her parents would not deprive her of industrial insurance benefits on account of his father's death. The relevant statute did not exclude adoptees from the definition of "child." *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 20 Wn.2d 14, 145 P.2d 285 (1944) Citing *Roderick's Estate*, *supra*, it stated:

We are committed to the rule that by adoption there is no dissolution of the natural relationship of kindred and that an adopted child will not be deprived of the benefits arising from such natural relationship.

20 Wn.2d at 17 The notion that an adoptee is the child of both the natural and adoptive parents has never been overruled. Neither has the rule in *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra*, cited above. On the authority of these two cases, the adoption does not eliminate Mr. Saludares' status as a statutory beneficiary of the wrongful death action. The contrary decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with these two decisions. Therefore, the Supreme Court should take review.

Adoption is a statutory procedure that was unknown at common law. State ex rel. Van Cleave v. Frater, 21 Wn.2d 213, 233-34, 150 P.2d 391 (1944). The effect of a decree of adoption must therefore be governed by statutory language. The rules set out in Roderick's Estate, supra, and Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra, have not been changed by subsequent amendment of the adoption statutes. The decision in Roderick's Estate, supra, was based on the Court's interpretation of former Rem. Comp. Stat. § 1699. That statute set out the effects of a decree of adoption. It stated that such a decree divests the natural parent of all legal rights and obligations in respect to such child; that the child is made free of the all legal obligations of obedience and maintenance to the natural parent; and that the adoptee becomes the child and legal heir of the adoptive parents, entitled to all rights and privileges of such a relationship. 158 Wash. 378-79. The statute in effect when Mr. Saludares was adopted that describes the effect of a decree of adoption is RCW 26.33.260(1).<sup>2</sup> Its language is materially identical to that of former Rem. Comp. Stat. § 1699. It states that a decree of adoption (1) divests the natural parent of all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Saludares' adoption was governed by RCW 26.33 as adopted in 1984 Laws of Washington, Chapter 155. The statute has been amended a number of times since then. Citation will be made to the Revised Code of Washington because there are no material differences between the 1984 enactment and the current version that affect our case.

legal rights and obligations toward the adoptee except for past due child support; (2) frees the adoptee from all legal obligations of obedience and maintenance with respect to the natural parent; and (3) makes the adoptee the child and legal heir of the adoptive parent having the same rights and privileges, including inheritance, as a natural child of the adoptive parent would have.

The Court of Appeals based its decision on the statement in RCW 26.33.260(1) to the effect that a decree of adoption renders the adoptee the child of the adoptive parents. In doing so, it ignored the general rule set out in Roderick's Estate, supra, that an adoptee is, in a legal sense, the child of both the natural and adoptive parent. This rule was required by the verbiage of former Rem. Comp. State. § 1699. It is also required by virtually identical language of RCS 26.33.260(1). While both statutes say and have said that a natural parent loses all rights with regard to an adoptee, neither states the converse—that the adoptee loses all rights with regard to the parent. And while both have stated that the adoptee becomes the child of the adoptive parent, neither says that the relationship with the natural parent is terminated. A Court cannot read language into the statute that the legislature may have omitted, either intentionally or inadvertently. In other words, a Court cannot adopt an interpretation of a statute that adds language that simply isn't there. Jenkins v. Bellingham Municipal Court, 95 Wn.2d 574, 579, 627 P.2d 1316 (1981); Custody of Smith, 137 Wn.2d 1, 12, 969 P.2d 21 (1998). The notion that the statutory language serves to end the parent-child relationship between the adoptee and the natural parent is at odds with this rule of statutory interpretation. The general rule set out in Roderick's Estate, supra, was valid then and is valid now.

In coming to its decision, the Court of Appeals also ignored the decision in *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra*, and the rule set out in that case.

The Court of Appeals dismissed *Roderick's Estate*, *supra*, claiming that it is based on consanguinity and that the Supreme Court has rejected consanguinity as having any effect. The holding in *Roderick's Estate*, *supra*, was not based on vague notions of consanguinity. It rested on an interpretation of former Rem. Comp. § 1699 which did not state that a decree of adoption terminates the relationship between a natural parent and an adoptee; the general rule that an adoptee is the child of both natural and adoptive parents; and the absence of any statute at that time eliminating the adoptee's right to inherit from a natural parent.

To be sure, the holding of *Roderick's Estate*, *supra*, was abrogated by the enactment of RCW 11.04.085 in 1965. That statute eliminated an

adoptee's ability to inherit from a natural parent.<sup>3</sup> But this legislation did not undercut the general principles set out in *Roderick's Estate, supra*. It simply provided the statute that decision stated was necessary to eliminate the adoptee's right to inherit.

The Court of Appeals relied on language from *Donnelly's Estate*, 81 Wn.2d 430, 436, 502 P.2d 1163 (1973), to the effect that adoption severs all ties to the past and by giving the adoptee a "fresh start" as the child of the adoptive parent. In that case, the Court interpreted RCW 11.04.085 to preclude an adoptee from inheriting from natural grandparents. It did not mention *Roderick's Estate, supra*, or the rule that an adoptee is a child of both natural and adoptive parents whose rights can only be eliminated by a specific statute. It also did not mention *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra*. The language in *Donnelly's Estate, supra*, does not abrogate the rules set out in *Roderick's Estate, supra*, and *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra*. Such *sub silentio* abrogation is disfavored. *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.* 166 Wn.2d 264, 280, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009) It is also inappropriate if the decisions can be harmonized. *Industrial Coatings Company v. Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland*, 117 Wn.2d 511, 518-19, 817 P.2d 393

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The statute says that an adoptee is not an heir of a natural parent. An heir is a person who can take under the laws of intestacy. RCW 11.02.005(6)

(1991). Harmonization is apparent here. As noted above, both *Roderick's Estate, supra, and Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra,* acknowledge that a statute can eliminate a benefit that an adoptee would otherwise receive based on the relationship with the natural parent. The Court in *Donnelly's Estate, supra,* was interpreting just such a statute, RCW 11.04.085—the statute that eliminates an adoptee's ability to inherit from a natural parent.

Roderick's Estate, supra, was mentioned in Estate of Fleming, 143 Wn.2d 412, 21 P.3d 281 (2001). In that case, the estate of a mother whose parental rights had been terminated through relinquishment sought to inherit from her son who had not been adopted. Citing Roderick's Estate, supra, her estate claimed that she was entitled to inherit on the basis of consanguinity.<sup>4</sup> The Court rejected that argument. It ruled that the termination ended the parent-child relationship and her ability to inherit. In its discussion, the Court stated that consanguinity had been abandoned by "legislative and policy changes that predominate in modern probate law," specifically the enactment of RCW 11.04.085. 143 Wn.2d at 419 This language shows that Donnelly's Estate, supra, and Estate of Fleming, supra, must be limited to the probate context. This is appropriate because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This argument misapprehended the thrust of *Roderick's Estate*, *supra*.

the language stems from opinions primarily concerned with RCW 11.04.085. They have no effect here. A wrongful death recovery is not part of the decedent's estate and is not based on the ability to inherit. Wood v. Dunlop, 83 Wn.2d 719, 521 P.2d 1177 (1974); Estate of Lee v. City of Spokane, 101 Wn.App. 158, 2 P.3d 379 (2000) The opinion did not mention Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra, or purport to abrogate its rule that an adoptee does not lose benefits based on the relationship with the natural parent.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is also inconsistent Supreme Court decisions setting out other rules for statutory interpretation or construction. In context, the omission of clear language of termination in RCW 26.33.260(1) is significant since the adoption statute must be viewed as a whole and so that no portion is rendered meaningless or superfluous. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638(2002) Explicit termination and a much broader elimination of rights stems from relinquishment and/or termination. Both the natural parent and the adoptee are divested of all rights, powers, privileges, immunities, duties, and obligations with respect to each other. RCW 26.33.130(2) If the

legislature wanted the same result to follow from adoption without relinquishment or termination, it would have said so.<sup>5</sup>

Furthermore, the legislature is deemed to be aware of decisions construing current and prior legislation. *El Cordoba Dormitories, Inc., v. Franklin Public Utilities District,* 82 Wn.2d 858, 862-63, 514 P.2d 524 (1973) After the decisions in *Roderick's Estate, supra,* and *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries, supra,* it could have enacted legislation stating that a decree of adoption terminates the parent child relationship. That is the approach taken in the Uniform Adoption Code of 1969 in Section 14, and the 1994 Uniform Adoption Code, Section 1-105. It could have also amended RCW 4.20.020 to exclude adoptees from the definition of "child" contained within that statute. The only change, however, was RCW 11.04.085 which limits the adoptee's right to inherit from the natural parent. This means that the legislature has not seen fit to preclude an adoptee from other benefits flowing from the natural parent.

In essence, the Court of Appeals has ruled that Mr. Saludares cannot be a statutory beneficiary because he cannot inherit. Such a notion cannot stand when the legislative change after the decisions in *Roderick's Estate*, supra, and *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries*, supra, was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As will be discussed below, adoption can proceed without termination or relinquishment.

limited to the right to inherit and did not purport to affect the broader notions set out in both cases—that an adoptee does not lose rights stemming from the natural parent without a statute that enumerates the rights that are lost.

Finally, all statutes must be construed to carry out the legislature's intent. American Continental Insurance Company v. Steen, 151 Wn.2d 512, 518, 91 P.3d 864 (2004) The guiding principle for adoption is determining what is in the best interest of the child. RCW 26.33.010 The Court of Appeals stated that this intention is limited to the initial adoption process. Slip Opinion, p. 7 But that limitation is not in the statute itself. The goal of benefiting adoptees includes protecting their rights to benefits stemming from the natural parent.

The Court of Appeals states that allowing an adoptee to be a statutory beneficiary would require the personal representative to search for potential beneficiaries. That argument has previously been rejected by the Supreme Court. The defendant in *Armijo v. Wesselius, supra*, made the same argument in opposing the right of a child born outside of wedlock to be a statutory beneficiary. The Court was not concerned as it stated that the burden was on the person claiming to be a beneficiary to prove the required status. 77 Wn.2d at 720 An adoptee would have the same

burden. In any event, there is no doubt here that Deborah Reid gave birth to Mr. Saludares.

The Court of Appeals was also concerned that allowing an adoptee to be a beneficiary would interfere with the privacy of adoption proceedings. If an adoptee chooses to claim beneficiary status, that adoptee has made a decision to subordinate concerns of privacy to establishing a claim. There can be little concern for the privacy of a decedent. In a wrongful death action, all aspects of the decedent's life and relationships become relevant to the establishment of damages.

At the end of the day, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with many decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals as discussed above. Therefore, the Supreme Court should take review.

## IV. There Was No Relinquishment.

The Court of Appeals also decided that the parent-child relationship between Deborah Reid had been terminated by the operation of RCW 26.33.130(2), stating that Deborah Reid relinquished Mr. Saludares. That ruling is incorrect and conflicts with decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

The adoption statute, RCW 26.33, sets out procedures for relinquishment and for adoption. The two are not the same.

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