FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/23/2017 12:14 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 95039-3 (Court of Appeals No. 492229-9-II)

In re the Matter of the Estate of

DEBORAH E. REID,

Deceased

ANSWER OF DILLON REID TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Kathleen McCann Attorney For Dillon Reid 1014 Franklin St., Suite 202 Vancouver, WA 98660 360.694.9525

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

 The Petitioner here wrongly contends that the Court of Appeals Decision in the Present Matter is in Conflict with this Court's Decision in a Case Known as Roderick's Estate, 158 Wash. 377, 291 P. 325 (1930) and a Case Known as Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries (20 Wn 2d 14, 145 P. 2d 285 (1944) and a Case Known as In Armijo v. Wesselius, 73 Wash 2d 716 (1968)

Roderick and Hale have been abrogated by this court in a case known as *Fleming*. *Armijo v. Wesselius* is inapplicable.

Saludares in his petition for review focuses on *In re Roderick's Estate*, 158 Wash. 377, 291 P. 325 (1930). Petitioner for review asks this court to not consider the statutory scheme or explicit statutory language in the adoption statute or as set out in the rules of statutory interpretation but at a 1930 case, *Roderick's Estate* and a 1944 case, *Hale v. Department of Labor and Industries* (20 Wn 2d 14, 145 P. 2d 285 (1944). Saludares asks for an interpretation of the word "child" that is inconsistent with the statutory scheme and in conflict with statutory language.

Petitioner cites the *Wesselius* case in support of his position. Wesselius is not on point and the issue in *Wesslius* and this case is distinguishable factually and is inapplicable here. In *Armijo v. Wesselius*, 73 Wash 2d 716 (1968), the court considered the class of people who could bring a tort of outrage. In this 1968 case in which issues of legitimacy were a concern,

the court interpreted the word "child" in Washington's wrongful death statute to include an illegitimate child. This ruling is consistent with Dillon Reid's position in this case. An "illegitimate child" is still a legal child unless they are adopted by other persons.

Both petitioner's cases, *Roderick* and *Hale v. Department* of *Labor*, as noted by the Court of Appeals were abrogated by the Supreme Court's decision in *Fleming*, 143 Wn.2d at 419, <u>a</u> <u>2001 case</u>.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, our Supreme Court expressly <u>abrogated</u> the *Roderick* court's approach in *Fleming* in 2001 when it held in a probate case that a mother who voluntarily relinquished her parental rights to her son could not later inherit from him. *Fleming*, 143 Wn.2d at 419. In 2001, the *Fleming* court explicitly departed from *Roderick*, referencing adoption statutes and explaining: "Contemporary probate and adoption statutes provide ample evidence the Legislature has abandoned consanguinity as the overriding policy consideration where the parent-child relationship is terminated. *Fleming*, 143 Wn.2d at 419. Like the appellant in *Fleming*, Saludares has cites outdated case law. In *Fleming*, the appellant asserts that, unless there is a statute specifically stating a biological parent must retain legal status as a parent to qualify for an intestate distribution, the courts must defer to the concept of consanguinity and distribute the parent's share to the biological parent. In discussing *In re Estate Roderick*, 158 Wash. 377, 381, 291 P. 325 (1930), the Supreme Court in *Fleming* observes, "the appellant in *Fleming* cites outdated case law to make his point. Although the court in *In re Estate Roderick*, 158 Wash. 377, 381, 291 P. 325 (1930) page 295 took the deferential approach (appellant) suggests, we have since abandoned that approach in response to legislative changes and policy changes that predominate in modern probate law. *See, e.g., In re Estates of Donnelly*, 81 Wash.2d 430, 502 P.2d 1163 (1972). *Fleming* at page 285.

The Court of Appeals stated in the present case: "The sentiment regarding the effect of adoption has remained inviolate in the years since. *In re Estate of Fleming*, 143 Wn.2d 412, 421, 21 P.3d 281 (2001) "In order to give a child a fresh start [after an adoption], all interests and rights between the biological parent and child are severed when that relationship is terminated."); *Mitchell v. Doe*, 41 Wn.App. 846, 849-50, 706

P.2d 1100 (1985) (reasoning, "There is no policy stronger or more consistently followed in this state than that protecting the sanctity and privacy of adoptions. When an adoption has become final, previous ties to natural parents are completely severed and a wholly new relationship is created."); *see also In re Application of Santore*, 28 Wn.App. 319, 623 P.2d 702 (1981); *In re Adoption of Baby Girl K.*, 26 Wn.App. 897, 615 P.2d 1310 (1980)."

The critical question in *Fleming* which abrogated *Roderick's Estate* was: What meaning to give to the term "parent" as used in the probate statute, RCW 11.04.015(2)(b). Does "parent" refer to legal status as parent, or does it refer to a biological parent? The probate statute which the court was interpreting in *Fleming* did not define the term "parent." The Court of Appeals in *Fleming* interpreted *parent* to refer to a person's legal status, thus disqualifying Fleming from an intestate distribution under RCW 11.04.015(2)(b).

Challenging this interpretation on appeal, the appellant in *Fleming* argued that consanguinity must be inferred into all modern probate law. Like Saludares in this case, appellant asserted unless there is a statute specifically stating a biological

parent must retain legal status as a parent to qualify for an intestate distribution, the courts must defer to the concept of consanguinity and distribute the parent's share to the biological parent. In abrogating Estate Roderick, 158 Wash. 377, 381, 291 P. 325 (1930), the court stated, "we have since abandoned that approach in response to legislative changes and policy changes that predominate in modern probate law. The Fleming Court observed that both contemporary probate and adoption statutes provide ample evidence the Legislature has abandoned consanguinity as the overriding policy consideration where the parent-child relationship is terminated. For instance, RCW 11.04.015(2)(b) provides that an adopted child is not an heir of his or her biological parents. RCW 26.33.260(1) provides that an adoptive child enjoys complete inheritance rights from the adoptive parent. Petitioner for review seeks to limit Fleming to the probate statute, however, the Fleming court specifically mentions adoption statutes in its analysis.

DECISION CONSISTENT WITH OTHER STATES

The decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II in this case is in accord with decisions of courts in other states who have considered this <u>same question</u>. Where there was no

definition of "child" in the state's wrongful death statute, courts have found that the "plain meaning" of "child" in a wrongful death statute does not include children adopted by others prior to decedent's death. See Cumulative Report. 67 A.L.R. 2d 745. Case law in California, Arkansas, Michigan, Virginia, and Florida have held that the "plain meaning" of "child" is found in the context of state statutes, specifically referencing adoption and probate statutes. These courts have concluded that adoption cuts off the rights of a child adopted by another from being a statutory beneficiary in a wrongful death action. The California Appellate court in Phraner v. Cote Mart, Inc., 55 Cal. App. 4th 166, 63 Cal. Rptr. 2d 740 (4th Dist. 1997) addressing this issue "Other states addressing this issue generally observed that: reach the same result. (See, e.g., Matter of Estate of Renaud (1993) 202 Mich.App. 588 [509 N.W.2d 858]; Johnson v. Parrish (1981) 159 Ga.App. 613 [284 S.E.2d 111]; Wasley v. Brown (E.D.Va. 1961) 193 F.Supp. 55. Contra, Fillingame v. Patterson (S.D.Miss. 1988) 704 F.Supp. 702."

Petitioner contends "child" should be given its dictionary meaning. States that have considered this question, like the Court of Appeals have all held that the "plain meaning" of "child" is found in the context of state statutes, specifically referencing adoption and probate statutes and that adoption cuts off the rights of a child adopted by another from being a statutory beneficiary in a wrongful death action.

RULES OF STATUTORY INTERPRETATION

3. Under the plain meaning and consistent with the Washington adoption statute, as a child placed for adoption prior to Deborah Reid's death, Saludares is not a statutory beneficiary under the Wrongful Death Statute. In the present case, the rules of statutory construction to do not support petitioner's position.

The Court of Appeals decision interprets RCW 4.20.020 definition of child consistent with Washington's adoption statutes "to achieve a harmonious total statutory scheme . . . which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes."

When engaging in statutory interpretation, the court endeavors to determine and give effect to the legislature's intent. *Blessing*, 174 Wn.2d at 231. As observed by the Court of Appeals in deciding this case, cases interpreting the effects of adoption under Washington law <u>consistently</u> treat the adoptive family as the natural family, favoring providing a "clean slate" to adopted children over consanguinity. The Court of Appeals in this case correctly decided the question of statutory interpretation in this case in the context of the broad legislative objective of giving the adopted child a "fresh start" by treating the child as the child of the adoptive parent and severing all ties with the past.

The rules of statutory construction pertinent to this case and followed by the Court of Appeals in making its decision are listed below and require that the court determine legislative intent. The legislature is presumed to be familiar with its own prior legislation. *The entire sequence of all statutes relating to the same subject matter are considered*. The court should avoid reading a statute in ways that will lead to absurd or strange results.

1. When called on to interpret a statute, the courts give effect to legislative intent. *State v. Hammock*, 154 Wn. App. 630. (2010)

2. To determine legislative intent, the court looks first to the plain language of the statute. *Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc., 166 Wash.2d 489, 498, 210 P.3d 308 (2009).*

3. Plain meaning is discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. <u>State v. Jacobs, 154 Wash.2d 596, 600, 115 P.3d</u> <u>281 (2005)</u>. In re Estate of Blessing, 174 Wash. 2d 228 (2012).

4. If the statute is unambiguous, the court's inquiry is at an end. *Cerrillo v. Esparza, 158 Wash.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155 (2006).*

5. The legislature is presumed to be familiar with its own prior legislation relating to the subject at hand and with the court decisions construing legislation. *El Cordoba Dormitories, Inc., v. Franklin County Public Utilities District*, 82 Wn. 2d 858, 862-63, 514 P. 2d. 524 (1973).

6. The court avoids reading a statute in ways that will lead to absurd or strange results. *Lane V. Harborview Medical Center*, 154 Wn.App. 279, 289, 227 P.3d 297 (2010). *In re Dependency of M.S., Sigurdson v. State of Washington 156 Wn. App. 907, 236 P. 3d 214 (2010).*

The legislature, in enacting the Wrongful Death Act, is

presumed to know the adoption statute and the meaning of the

word "child" contained in the adoption statute as a legal

relationship and not one of consanguinity.

Where....two statutes relate to the same subject matter, the court will, in its attempt to ascertain legislative purpose, read the sections as constituting one law to the end that a harmonious total schema maintains the integrity of both is derived. Beach v. Board of Adjustment 73 Wash 2d 343 (1968).

The Court of Appeals in this case correctly observes that Saludares interpretation of the meaning of the word "child" would call into question the finality many adoptions. The Saludares interpretation would also lead to absurd or strange results. Despite the clear language of RCW 26.33.260, an adoptee would remain a child of his biological parent in most contexts. A biological child could argue that he is entitled to the rights and privileges typical of legal child in a variety of contexts (i.e., health insurance), unless the legislature specifically states otherwise.

Saludares' interpretation of child under the Wrongful Death statute directly contradicts the express terms of RCW 26.33.260(1) which delineates the effect of an adoption:

The entry of a decree of adoption divests any parent or alleged father who is not married to the adoptive parent or who has not joined in the petition for adoption of all legal rights and obligations in respect to the adoptee, except past-due child support obligations. The adoptee shall be free from all legal obligations of obedience and maintenance in respect to the parent. The adoptee shall be, to all intents and purposes, and for all legal incidents, the child, legal heir, and lawful issue of the adoptive parent, entitled to all rights and privileges, including the right of inheritance and the right to take under testamentary disposition, and subject to all the obligations of a natural child of the adoptive parent.

To accept Saludares's interpretation and hold that his adoption did not affect his status as Reid's child for the wrongful death claim, the court would have to ignore he portion of RCW 26.33.260(1) which states, "The adoptee shall be, <u>to all intents</u> <u>and purposes, and for all legal incidents</u>, the child, legal heir, and lawful issue of the adoptive parent."

The Court of Appeals observes, the right to recover as a statutory beneficiary in a wrongful death action is a "legal incident."

4. <u>The Petitioner wrongly contends there was no</u> relinquishment in the adoption.

In the unpublished portion of the Court of Appeals decision, the Court held that Deborah Reid voluntarily relinquished her parental rights by consenting to Saludares's adoption. The approval of her consent and decree of adoption effectively terminated the parent-child relationship. Appellant Brandon Saludares claims that the parent-child relationship with Deborah Reid remains intact, he is still her "child," because there was no "relinquishment" or termination order in this adoption. This is not true. There was a "relinquishment" because a voluntary written consent to adoption was approved by the court. The decree of adoption, approving the consent, was a termination order.

A "relinquishment" is defined by statute and by case law as "the voluntary surrender of custody of a child to the department, an agency, or *prospective adoptive parents*." RCW 26.33.020(11). *In re Dependency of M.S., Sigurdson v. State of Washington* 156 Wn. App. 907, 236 P. 3d 214 (2010).

The Decree of Adoption entered August 19, 1982 states that Brandon Jeffrey Saludares "*is constituted the child of the petitioners, Diane Saludares and Michael Saludares, and each of* them is hereby constituted a parent of the child to the same degree and effect as if the child has been born as the issue of the marriage existing between petitioners." The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law supporting the Decree of Adoption of Brandon Saludares by Diane and Michael Saludares provides that "The Petition of Diane Saludares and Michael Saludares for the adoption of said child (Brandon) should be granted and to all legal intents and purposes said child should be the child of Petitioners." The consent to adoption of her natural child executed by Deborah Reid states: "That I fully understand that the nature and effect of a decree of absolute adoption is to extinguish and terminate all rights, duties, obligations and liabilities of the parent or parents of the adopted child in relation to the custody, maintenance and education of the child thereafter, and also to deprive the parents or parent permanently of her or their parental rights in respect to the adopted child."

The consent to adoption of Deborah Reid is a consent to termination of the parent-child relationship between her and Brandon Saludares. Her consent was *specifically* approved by the court in its decree of adoption.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals property declared that a child born to Decedent but who was adopted by others prior to Decedent's death is not a statutory beneficiary under the terms of RCW 4.20.020, the Washington wrongful death statute and is therefore not entitled to a share of the wrongful death recovery made on behalf of decedent. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a decision of the Court of Appeals. This Court is respectfully requested to deny, in total, the Petition for Discretionary Review herein.